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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

1325 K STREET N.W.
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463 January 4, 1977

Honorable Edward H. Levi

Attorney General of the United States
Department of Justice, Room #5111
Washington, D.C. 20530

Dear Mr. Attorney General:

The enclosed report of General Counsel John G. Murphy, Jr.
in MUR 298(76) dated December 21, 1976, deals with apparent
violations of the confidentiality provisions of 2 U.S.C. §437g
in connection with the Commission's investigation of a complaint
relating to the U.S. Senatorial election in Tennessee.

The report summarizes an investigation which was conducted
by General Counsel Murphy and the Commission's Chief Investigator,
Mr. Michael Hershman. During the course of this investigation
it developed that the Commission's Chairman, Vernon W. Thomson,
may have been involved, among others. As you will appreciate,
this has presented the Commission with a problem of great
delicacy and difficulty.

The report was considered by the Commission on December 22,
1976, 'and again today, January 4, 1977, with Chairman Thomson
absenting himself-on both occasions. The five Commissioners
participating have now unanimously concluded that it would not
be appropriate for the Commission to handle this matter further.
We are accordingly referring the report to you as Attorney
General.

A copy of all statements taken during the investigation
of MUR 298 will be supplied to you as soon as duplication is
completed.

Copies of this letter and of General Counsel Murphy's
report are being transmitted to the Chairmen of the Senate
Rules and House Administration Committees, and will become
part of the public record.

Yours very’truly,

Tiowes €. oy

i THOMAS E. HARRIS
@ ‘ Vice Chairman
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

GENERAL COUNSEL'S REPORT

In Re An Unknown Respondent
MUR 298(76)

I. Preface

MUR 298(76) was opened by the Commission on Wednesday,
October 27, 1976 with a finding of reason to believe that
an unnamed respondent had violated the confidentiality
provisions of 2 U.S.C. §437g in connection with the
Commission's investigation of MUR 216(76), which involved
the Democratic Senatorial Campaign in Tennessee. Evidence
supporting the finding of reason to believe had béen
supplied by an article appearing in the October 25, 1976

edition of The Nashville Banner, in which it was reported

that the Commission had subpoenaed records of the Democra-
tic senatorial candidate in that state. Because of the
importance and sensitivity of the apparent breach of
confidentiality reflected by that article, and because the
article had wholly arbitrarily and improperly injected the
Commission into a close senatorial race, the General
Counsel personally conducted the ensuing investigation
with the assistance of the Commission's Chief Investigator,
Mr. Michael Hershman. During the course of investigation
65 depositions were taken, 14 other interviews conducted,
and six subpoenas were se;ved, five for records and omne

for personal appearance. Thé results of that investigation

to date are set forth below.



II. Facts

On August 3, 1976, a formal complaint was filed against
Democratic senatorial primary candidate James Sasser of
Tennessee by a Democratic opponent, Harry Sadler, who alleged,

inter alia, that Mr. Sasser had received illegal bank loans

and was also benefiting from improper arrangemgnts for the

use of corporate aircraft. The Commission notified Mr. Sasser
of the complaint in due course. Ensuing communications
between the Sasser campaign and the Commission failed to
produce information adequate to resolve the allegations in

the Sadler complaint. By mid-October 1976, the Commission
staff felt that the Commission should tolerate no further
delay in the production of requeéted data and should

therefore issue subpoenas.

On October 19, 1976, the Commissién, acting in Executive
Session, voted unanimously (with Commissioner Staebler absent)
to issue three subpoenas in connection with the Sadler
complaint, which at that time was styled MUR 216(76).—/ One
subpoena was for certain records maintained by the Sasser
campaign treasurer, Mr. Gary Blackburn. The other two
subpoenas were addressed respectively to the United American
Bank of Nashville Tennessee, and the First National Bank of
Tracy City, Tennessee, which allegedly made illegal loans to

the Sasser campaign. The subpoenaed parties were directed to

1/ .

Z" A gimilar complaint styled MUR 239(76), and involving the
same issues, was filed by a C.D. Hopkins on September 23, 1976,
‘and was consolidated with MUR 216(76).




produce the described information by October 26 and 27, 1976.
The Commission adjourned at approximately 1:00 p.m. on
October 19, 1976.

At approximately 5:30 p.m., October 19, 1976, Fedefal
Election Commission Chairman Vernon W. Thomson attended a
reception at the University Club for Mr. Robert Spitzer, a
long~-time Wiséonsin acquaintance. He states that he remained
at the reception for a relatively brief time, since he had a
dinner to attend. At one point he was approached by Mr. Melvin
Laird. Both Mr. Thomson and Mr. Laird have testified that
Mr. Laird addressed Thgmson very aggressively from the outset,
and that the subject matter of their discussion was whether
the Commission was acting'with adequate expedition in compliance
matters. Mr. Thomson vigorously defended the Commission
against Laird's challenge that the Commission was not acting
effectively. Both men stated, prior to deposition, that
Thomson may have "ovef reacted" to Laird's attack. Laird
specifically referred to Commission postponement of action
on complaints regarding illegal bank loans to candidates and,
in this context, he testified to the best of his recollection
that the states of Tennessee, Minnesota and Maryland were
mentioned.i/ Laird testified that Thomson used the terminology
"investigation of the records” in connection with "these
complaints"zl Mr. Thomson does not agree that this termino-

3
logy was used.™ e
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2/ Laird Tr. pp 15-16. '

3/ Both the Laird and Thomson tramscripts of depositions ére’/
attached hereto and should be read in toto.



Melvin Laird testifies emphatically that Thomson was
the only person with whom he spoke about the Tennessee
matter until the following Friday, October 22, 1976, and
that he had no other source for the information regarding
Tennessee.l/ He s;ates that his conversation at the Univer-
gity Club with Thomson lasted approximately five to ten
minutes. ﬁe testified thét since late Spring he-has had
an interest in a possible artiéle about various campaign
law abuses, including loan abuses. And he had earlier
stated that he was aware from general discussion on Capitol
Hill that Mr. Sasser's Democratic opponent in the primary
had complained thaﬁ Mr. Sasser has been the beneficiary of
an improper campaign loan.

After Mr. Laird left the University Club at approximately
6:30 p.m. on October 19, 1976, he went home. On Wednesday,
Qctober 20 he testifies that he was in his office all day.

On Thursday, October 21, his schedule was as follows:

He attended the inauguration of the new American University
President in the morning, then went to a George Washington
University Board of Trustees luncheon about noon, after which
the Board met. He went from the Board meeting to the Airport.
At 3:30 p.m. he took Northwest Aiflines flight 375 to Milwaukee.
He flew on to Green Bay, Wisconsin that same evening, and stayed
at a motel in Appleton. The purpose of his trip to Wisconsin
was largely political; he made several appearances oOn behalf
of the Ford Committee through the course of the weekend, and

also appeared with a local Republican candidate.
L¥0hy

1/ Laird Tr. pp 20, 28, 43.
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He states that while in Wisconsin, he heard
allegations that improper campaign loans were involved in
Republican candidate Harold Frcehlich's campaign,l/ and
that this, as well as perhaps just preparing for political
appearances,ll recalled for him his conversation with Thomson.
On Friday morning, October 22, he telephoned his secretary,
Laurie Hawley in Washington, D.C. to arrange, among other
things, for some upcoming appointments in New York. He s#id
"to her, in what he characterizes as an afterthought, that he
had a‘"rumor" which "might be of interest to our friends in
Tennessee" and that she should attempt to get the information
to Carl Wallace who might know someone in the Brock campaign.
He told her that his information was to the effect that the
Commission had taken or w#s about to take action to obtain
records from the Sasser campaign. He stated that he does not
recall using the word "subpoenas".él He does not recall
receiving specific information from Mr. Thomson about a
Commission vote, such as a unanimousvvpte, but in a pre-
deposition interview he did say Thomson gave him the impression
that the Commission was "working together" effectively on a
number of cases.

Laurie Hawley, Laird's Executive Secretary, has béén
associated with him for tem years, including time with him

in the Congress, at the Pentagon, and now at the Readers Digest.

FOR,
“
1/ 2 %
= The investigators have confirmed that there had been %‘ >
such an allegation regarding Mr. Froehlich's campaign\@ )

2/ Laird Tr. pp. 24, 25, 29
Neither does Ms. Hawley. Hawley tr. p.5.






office around 7:00 p.m. and obtained Bell's Tennessee phone
aumber from Senator Brock's secretary. She called Bell in
Nashville and told him that he should call Mr. Kuykendall

who had some information for the Brock campaign. Later

in the evening she telephoned Mr. Kuykendall to satisfy

her curiosity as to what the information was. Mr. Kuykendall
told her at that time that the Commission had voted to issue
subpoenas for Sasser's records. She does not recall whether
Mr. Kuykendall said the vote was unanimous but she gleaned
from the conversation that the vote was "for Suré."

Thomas Bell formerly worked as Senator Brock's
Administrative Assistant in the Senate, and became the
Senator's Campaign Manager in February of 1976, at which
time he moved to Nashville. He testified that he spoke
by telephone with Kuykendall on the evening of Friday,
October 22, 1976. Imn that conversation he states that
Kuykendall told him the Commission had voted unanimously
to issue subpoenas for Sasser's records.l/ Bell testified
that Kuykendall indicated that his source was a person
named "Carl", but Bell was unable under deposition to recall
Carl's last name. Bell testified that Kuykendall represented
that this information was a matter of public record and had
been found by "Carl" in the course of doing some research
at the Commission. Bell states that he told Kuykendall he

did not know the procedures for confirming this informatio

1/

= In an informal re—~examination on December 15, 1976
Kuykendall reaffirmed that Wallace had told him the
vote for subpoenas was unanimous. He pointed out
that he had told Bell this within 30 minutes of having

heard it from Wallace.



and asked for advice as to how he should proceed. Kuykendall
recalls nothing of this portion of the conversation. Wallace
has never doné any research at the Commission.

It is unclear whether Bell was able to transmit the
information further on the evening of Friday, October 22, 1976.
It is unequivocally clear that he did transmit it at approxi-
mately 5:00 p.m. on Saturday, October 23, 1976,.wheﬁ he gave it
by telephone to Mr. Robert Perkins, the Executive Director of
the Iennessee Republican Party, and at that time, a half-time
worker for the Brock campaign. Perkins had been on Semator
Brock's Washington staff until the summer of 1976, when he
moved to Nashville to assume his new post with the Tennessee
Republicans, and to aid the Senator's re-election campaign.
Prior t§ that move, Perkins had worked gxtensively on the
Federal Election Campaign Act amendments of 1976, was
thoroughly familiar with the law, and had come to know many
Commission staff people.

Perkins had spent the day of Saturday, October 23, 1976
in Tunica, Mississippi and was on his way to a Brock fund-
raiser in Jackson, Tennessee, when he stopped at a gas
station outside bf Memphis and telephoned the Nashville
campaign headquarters to determine if there were any messages
for him. He was informed by Nancy Roberts, his secretary,
that Bell wanted to speak with him and would call him right
back. Bell did teleﬁhone him right back and téld him that
there was information that the Commission had subpoenaed

Sasser's records._ He states that Bell told him that the
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Commission action was apparently a matter of public record
and Bell wanted him to check it out.

Perkins then made a series of credit card telephone
calls from that same phone booth to Washington, D.C. He
attempted to reach William Loughrey, Executive Assistant
io the Commission's Chairman. He called Loughrey's home
and left word with Loughrey's roommate, Thomas Gilboy, that
it was "extremely importént" or "urgent" that he talk to
Loughrey. Loughrey ﬁas not available.

Perkins reached Commissioner Joan Aikens at her home.
According to all testimony, after a few courteous
preliminaries, Perkins said that he had heard that the

Commission had voted in open session to subpoena records

in the Sasser campaign; Ms. Aikens replied that the Commission

had not done so, that she was not at liberty to discuss
compliance matters, and tﬁat Perkins should talk to Dave
Fiske, the Commission's Press Officer, who handles all
compliance inquiries. This telephone conversation lasted
approximately ﬁhree minutes.l/

Perkins also attempted to call Jan Baran, Counsel to
the Republican Congressional Committee in Washington, D.C.
He did not succeed. He attempted to reach Miss Viétoria

Tigwell, a Commission employee, but also failed to reach

1
Y It should be noted for the record that on Monday,

October 25, 1976 at approximately 1:00 p.m the
General Counsel was contacted in persom by
Commissioner Joan Aikens who related to him the
phone call she had received Saturday evening from
Bob Perkins at her home. The following day
Commissioner Aikens provide a written rendition of
that phone call for this file.

-
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her. As he was now behind.schedule to reach Jackson,
Tennessee by 7:00 p.m. that evening, Perkins‘called his
wife, Bgth Perkins, in Nashville, relayed to her the
salient information, and asked that she attempt to contact
the individuals he had failed to reach.

Shortly thereafter, Beth Perkins did make contact
with Jan Baran and Victoria Tigwell, although the order
in which this occurred is not clear. She reached Baran at
his home in Washington, D.C. Their testimony coincides
on the basic point that she informed him she had heard
the Commission had taken certain action in the Sasser case
and that sﬁe wanted to know if Baran knew anthing about it.
Baran indicated that he did -not, that he was sure it was
confidential 3nd that he would be unable to find anything
out about it. Subpoenaed telephone records reflected that
this call was under three minutes..in duration.

Mrs. Perkins reached Victoria Tigwell at the Perkins'
house at 1100 Maryland Avenue, N.E., Washington, D.C.,
which Miss Tigwell occupied as a temant. Miss Tigwell has
known the Perkins since 1974 when they worked together in
behalf of the Republican candidate for the Senate from Iowa.
Miss Tigweil came to Washington, D.C. in the Spring of 1976
and rented the Perkins' héuse early that summer when the
Perkinsvmoved to Nashville. Bob Perkins had been of
assistance in referring her to the Commission for employment
possibilities. Miss Tigwell was first employed as a

Commission auditor and then in the summer became a member
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of the Commission's Ten Day Non-Filer Team, which mﬁnitors
failures to file required pre-election reports. A co-worker
on the Ten Day Non-Filer Team testifies that Miss Tigwell
recurrently talked openly of the Tennessee Senatorial race
and expressed a clear preference for Senator Brock. The
co-worker similarly testified that Miss Tigwell was aware
that a Democratic opponent had filed a complaint against
Sasser. Since the Perkins' departure for Nashville,
Miss Tigwell testifies that she has been in regular telephone
communication with them on a whole range'of matters, notably
including on-going problems having to do with the restoration
of the Perkins' Capitoel Hill broperty.

When Beth Perkins telephoned her on the eveniﬁg of
Saturday, October(23, 1976, Miss Tigwell recalls that
Mrs. Perkins stated that they had heard in Tennessee that
the Commission had subpoenaed Sasser's campaign records.
Mrs. Pérkins asked whether Miss Tigwell knew anything
about it. Miss Tigwell states that she told Mrs. Perkins
she knew nothing about it. In the course of this conversation
Mrs. Perkins learned that Miss Tiéwell would be out that
evening for dinner with Daniel Reese, the Executive Assistant
to the Commission's Staff Director. However, Mrs. Perkins
denied that she Suggested that Miss Tigwell question Mr. Reese

with respect to the subpoenas.l

1/ Bob Perkins testified, with regard to this point: "I

think Beth indicated [to her husband] she had asked
Vicky to find out what she could." Bob Perkins Tr. p.82.
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Miss Tigwell's parents were visiting Washington at
the time and she went with them to dinner in the company
of Mr. Daniel Reese, with whom she had developed a close
social relationship. After dinner she and Reese returned
her parents to the Maryland Avenue, N.E. residence and
then went on to gontinue the evening elsewhere. 1In transit
in Reese's automobile, Miss Tigwell said that she had heard
that the Commission had subpoenaed Sasser's records. She
may have preceeded this by saying that Beth Perkins had
called her with this information. In any event Reese knew
that the Perkins had made this inquiry because, whether she
offered the information at the outset or only in response
to his later question, theré is‘no doubt Miss Tigwell told
him that the question had been posed by the Perkins.

Reese confirmed that the Commission had in fact issued
subpoenas against Sasser. In later reviewing his deposition
and in response to a question, Reese said that he "may have"
said something about a unanimous vote. Reese testified
that he warned her in the car that she should not talk about
the matter. In any event Miss Tigwell had been thoroughly
warned.on numerous earlier occasions with regard to the
confidentiality requirement of the Federal election laws.
According to Mr. Reese, this portion of their conversation
that evening was very brief, and the Sasser matter was not

adverted to agaip after the exchange in Reese's automobile.

At approximately 9:00 a.m. the morning of Sunday,

October 24, 1976, Miss Tigwell telephone Bob Perkins from
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her Maryland Avenue, N.E. residence, Perkins was at his
home in Nashyille. 1In a conversation which 1a§ted four
minutes and thirty seconds, she confirmed that the Commission
had issued subpoenas for Sasser's records. Perkins, under
close questioning, testified that he must have received the
information regarding the 6-0 vote from her that Sunday
morning.l/

The state of the record regarding contact between
Perkins and Bell on this subject that Sunday, October 24th,.
is somewhaf confused. Bell and Perkins do agree that they
were together at Bell's home that evening, along with other
Brock campaign staffers for the regular weekly meeting at
which campaign activity'was réviewed, and that during that
meeting Bell and Perkins spoke in a separate room by

teleﬁhone to Tom Ingram of The Nashville Banner.v Ingram

is the reporter whose by~line appeared on The Banner story

of October 25, 1976 regarding the Commission's subpoena action.
In variant terms, Bell's and.Perkins' testimony is

in agreement on the point that at least one of them

discussed subpoenas with Ingram in the telephone conversa-

tion with him that Sunday evening; but only Perkins is stromng

on the point that either he or Bell told Ingram that the

vote was 6-0;3 Bell's recollection of this is very hazy.

1/ Bob Perkins TIr. P. 84. Perkins did not recall whether
Tigwell indicated during this phone call that Reese
was the source. He does say Reese was discussed by
Tigwell and him at the Thursday mormning breakfast,
October 28, 1976.
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During this same conversation with Ingram, and pursuant
to discussion they had previously had with each other, either
Bell or Perkins suggested to Ingram that one Qay for the
reporter to proceed would be to call Sasser's campaign staff
and ask for a simple affirmation of the fact. that the subpoenas
had been issued. Very early the following morning, October 25,
1976, Ingram did just that. He first called Jerry Grant,
Sasser's Campaign Manager, and said that he had learned that
the Commission had jssued subpoenas which were to be returned
during the coming week. Grant was noncommittal since he was
totally ignorant of the facts. Ingram then called Gary
Blackburn, Sasser's Campaign Treasurer, and found him at

breakfast. Blackburn was accurately quoted in The Banner

story that appeared later in the day. He fairly successfully
evaded the question of whether subpoenas had been issued,
managing to characterize the Federal Election Commission's
communic;tion as no more than a request for additional
records which would be supplied in the ordinary course.

Ingram then called David Fiske in Washington, D.C. at
Fiske's home. Fiske is accurately quoted in. the October 25,
1976 story as saying that there c0u1d'be no comment on a

compliance matter. Ingram then went with the story imn the

early edition of The Banner, which is Nashville's aftern &n

newspaper.l

l/ Parenthetically, it should be noted for the record that on
Sunday, October 24, 1976, at approximately noan (after
Tigwell's call to Perkins that morning), William Loughrey
Executive Assistant to the Commission's Chairman, came to
the Commission and there encountered Miss Tigwell '

‘
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and another member of the Ten Day Non-Filer Team,
Miss Suzanne Callahan. Miss Tigwell indicated to
Mr. Loughrey that Bob Perkins was leooking for him
or "wanted to talk to you about the Sasser case."
Loughrey testified that at that point he responded
by saying "yeh, it must be about the subpoenas" or
he may have said "yeh, do you think it's about the
subpoenas?" In any event he indicated that he
needed a phone number from Mr. Perkins. Miss Tigwell
gave him:one. Loughrey subsequently tried that
number and found it was incorrect, although the
party at the other end indicated that Bob Perkins
had once lived there. Loughrey's and Perkins'
testimony is in accord on the point that Perkins
never was re-contacted by Loughrey.
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III. The Investigatory Process

Following preliminary discussion of the article in

The Banner at its Tuesday, October 26, 1976 Executive Session,

the Commission met in special Executive Session on Wednesday,
October 27, 1976 and there authorized the Commission's General
Counsel to proceed with an inquiry into the appareht breach

of confidentiality reflected by that article. The initial
proce&ure approved was to take the testimony of all Commission
staff who had been present at the October 19th Executive
Session, as well as the testimony of any other emﬁloyees
identified as‘possibly possessing knowledge of details of
Commission actions in the Sasser case.

On October 29, 1976, the first staff depositions were
taken, including those of Victoria Tigwell and Daniel Reese.
Among other things to which Miss Tigwell testified, she
stated she had had a bre;kfast meeting with Bob Perkins on
Thursday morning, October 28th at the Hyatt Regency Hotel
in Washington, D.C., at which time her pending deposition
was discussed. During Perkins' deposition, he stated that
at that breakfast meeting they had made passing reference
to her phone call to Perkins on Sunday morning, October 24,
1976. Neither Miss Tigwell nor Mr. Perkins proved willing
to describe the details of that breakfast conversation with
any great specificity. Under deposition Tigwell was not
adequately questioned with respect to her conversation

with Daniel Reese on the evening of Saturday, October 23,

1976; the only details she divulged with regard to it were
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that she told Reese that Beth Perkins had called and that

she had relayed to Reese what Beth Perkins had said about
subpoenas. The additional details were supplied subsequently
by Reese's testimony. Tigwell failed, in response to
questioning, to admit the telephone conversation she had had
with Perkins on the morning of Sunday, October 24, 1976.l/

On Saturday, October 30, 1976, all of the voting
Commissioners were deposed. During the ensuing week of
November 1, 1976 further depositions were taken of staff
personnel identified as haviné ;ttended the October 19, 1976
Executive Session, or as otherwise having familiarity with
the Sasser matter.

On November 10, 1976, the General Counse and Mr. Hershman
travelled to Nashville, Tennessee, and duiing the course of
the following morning, November 11, 1976, interviewed a number
of individuals connected with the Sasser compliance matter.
These included George Barrett, Mr. Sasser's attorney; Gary
Blackburn, the Sasser Campaign Treasurer; representatives
of the First Natiomnal Bank of Tracy City, Tennéssee and the
United American Bank of Nashville, Tennessee; and an attorney
associated with the firm serving the United American Bank.
Their responses to close questioning strongly support the
proposition that the breach of confidentiality at issue here

was not occasioned by careless talk on the part of persons

. . <o,
1/ . S l
2/ rigwell 10/21/76 TR. P. 18. s =
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associated with the subpoenaed banks or the Sasser campaign.
The fact that the subpoenas had issued was very closely
held, on instructions by George Barrett. The fact that

The Banner story did not mention the bank subpoenas makes

it relatively clear that the banks were not the source of
any leakage of information; had Ingram known of the
additional subpoenas, he surely would have included that
detail in his article. Within the Sasser campaign, only
Barrett, Blackburn and eventually Sasser's campaign
chairman knew that the subpoenas had issued (Jerry Grant,
the Campaign Manager, did not know this as a fact but had
only heard it on the morning of October 25, 1976 from
Ingram). It was the investigators ju§gement that, except
for what Blackburn told Ingram during the early morning
conversafion of October 25, 1976, there had been no
leakage of information from the Sasser structure. Moreover,
no one in the Sasser campaign or at either of the banks
could have been aware of what the Commission's vote was
and accordingly could not h;ve supplied that detail for

1/

The Banner article.=

During the afternoon of November 11, 1976, both Robert
Perkins and Beth Perkins, accompanied by Counsel, were
deposed. Thebdepositions'éommenced at 2:00 p.m. with

Mr. Perkins. His deposition was interrupted to take th%}f?oﬁ
, o 0

3

¥

{
1/ It should be remembered that The Banner article was
in error on the vote.
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of Mrs. Perkins in order that she could make an airplane

that day. Mr. Perkins deposition was resumed at approximately
5:00 p.m. 1in the afternoon and concluded at approximatély

6:45 p.m. It was during the course of these depositions

that Thomas Bell; Broek's €Campaign Manager, was first
identified as having Participated in the chain of communica-
tion. Both Bob and Beth Perkins testified unequivocally that
Bell had never given them his source,

6n November 17, 1976, Thomas Bell accompanied by Counsel
was deposed in the Office of General Counsel at the Federal
Election Commission. During this deposition, Dan Kuykendall
was first identified as having participated in the chain
of communication. Bell also identified "Carl" as Kuykendall's
Source but could not further describe him except to
characterize him as perhaps a."lawyer--lobbyist friend"
of Kuykendall.

On November 18, 1976 at 10:00 a.m. the General Counsel
and Mr. Hershman interviewed Mr. Kuykendall at his 16th
Street office in Washington, D.cC. Mr. Kuykendall stated
(and later reaffirmed under deposition) that he had received
a phone call at his home one evening late in the week of
October 18th. The caller, whom Mr. Kuykendall would not
identify during the course of this interview, :told him that
within the last few days the Federal Election Commission

. had taken a unanimous vote to subpoena records of the Sasser

campaign. He described his Source as a prominent person,

4 W‘e\\
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one who had served in the legislature, although not in an
elective capacity, and who had also served with the executive
branch of government, although not for the last four years.
He indicated that he was unwilling to identify the source
until the source had given him clearance to do so. It
was agreed that he would attempt to rea;h his source that
day and that he would be back in contact during the course
of the afternoon. He indicated that if his source asked
him not to cooperate, he would resist a subpoena. The
interview terminated.

In the late afternoon of No;ember 18, 1976,

Mr. Kuykendall telephoned tﬁe General Counsel to state

that he had been unable to cohtact his source and that

that person would be unavailable until Monday, November 22.:
- While this statement was received by the investigators

with skepticism, and while they assumed that the intervening
weekend would be used by Mr. Kuykendall and other to consult
with regard to the investigation, it was decided not to
issue a subpoena to Mr. Kuykendall at that time.

Within the following 24 hours, using the information
supplied by Bell and Kuykendall with respect to "Carl," and
drawing on informal sources, the investigators conditionally
identified Kuykendall's contact as Carl S. Wallace, Vice
President of the Puralatoi’Corporation. It was nonetheless

decided to await Mr. Kuykendall's telephone call on Monday,
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That call was received at approximately 10:00 a.m.
on the 22nd. Mr. Kuykendall identified his source as Carl
S. Wallace and indicated that Mr. Wallace was expecting to

hear from the Commission.l/

Mr. Wallace was immediately telephoned and an interview
was granted forthwith at Mr. Wallace's office in downtown
Washington, D.C. Mr. Wallace stated that he had received a
telephone call at the Burning Tree Country Club on Friday,
October 22, 1976 from Ms. Laurie Hawley, secretary to
Melvin Laird. He stated (and has reaffirmed under oath) that
Ms. Hawley had indicated to him that Laird had called her
and asked to see if Wallace knew anyone in the Brock campaign;
that Laird had told her that the Commission was issueing
subpoenas for the records of Brock's opponent; and that this

2/

information should be '"checked out."= Wallace then stated
that he passed the information on to Kuykendall at Kuykendall's
home that evening. |

Laird's office was then telephoned by the investigators
from the first floor of Wallace's office building. A
secretary took'the message and said that she would be back
in touch. Ms. Hawley called the General Counsel during the
afternoon of November 22, 1976 stating that Laird was

indisposed that day, and would be out of town November 23,

but would be available for a meeting at 10:00 a.m. November 24,

- ?'0' i3
1976. Q‘ rb%
< v
o g
“3 ;:;‘f4
1/ Kuykendall testifies that to this day, he has not learned ,¢;?
the identify of Wallace's source. _ et
2/

= Wallace's Powell's and Kuykendall's testimony makes it
plain that they all understood that the information was

to be put to political yge.
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On November 24th the investigators met with Melvin
Laird at his office on Rhode Island Avenue in Washington, D.C.
Present at that meeting was Ms. Laurie Hawley. A key detail
of this interview was Melvin Laird's representation that
some time toward the end of October he had received information
in Washington, which he characterized as rumor, that the
Commission had ‘acted or was about to act to obtain records in
connection with the Sasser investigation. He declined aﬁ
this time to identify his source. He deprecated the value
of the information he had received. He indicated that he had’
learned as early as September, from friends on Capitol Hill,
. that campaign loans were at issue in the Tennessee Senatorial
race, and this had intergsted him bgcause he had been considering
an article on abuse of the campaign laws, specifically with
respect to campaign loans and personal expenditures by candidates.
He set out the Readers Digest policy against revealing the
identity of confidential news sources, although he stopped short
of invoking a newsman's privilege. He represented that he had
the impression that the rumor he had received was public
knowledge, since it was his impression that everything the
Commission did was done publicly. Notwithstanding these
impressions, he did not think the Readers Digest policy
regarding confidentiality could be breached. He indicated

a willingness to cooperate if there was some way that the

investigators could assure that he and the Readers Digest
would remain unidentified. Several alternatives were gx

discussed, to none of which was he particularly responsive.



On several occasions he declined to State that hig source

Was not within the Commission. The interview terminated

information, 2) when and where it was given, and3) who else,
if anyone, was involved.

It is now clear that either on Thursday, November 18,
Or relatively early Friday, November 19, Kuykendall wasg
in fact in contact with Wallace, and that Wallace was
immediately in contact with Laird. 1In short, these three
figures had in Ssome fashion consulted prior to the morning
of Monday, November 22, 1976 when Mr. Kuykendall called the
General Counsel to identify Mr. Wallace: -It is also now
clear that some time between Wallace's contact with Laird
on November 18th or 19th ang the investigators' interview
of Laird on November 24th, Laird telephoned Vernon Thomson.
The 1nveStigators did not learn at this telephone conversa-
tion unti]l Decembér 4, 1976.

Because of the intervention of.the long Thanksgiving
Day weekend following the Laird interview, nothing further
was done with respect to the investigation until the week
of November 29, 197s6. On'Nﬁvember 30, 1976, the General
Counsel spoke with Laird by telephone. The conversation
'was largely an abbreviated replication of the contents of

the November 24th interview. Mr. Laird was informed that,
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given the state of the record before the 1nvesfigators at
that time, a recommendation would be made to the Commission
that formal depositions be taken. He indicated that he
would resist such a procedure. He nonetheless indicated
that he would talk further with his Counsel.

Several subsequent efforts to reach Laird again prior
to the Commission's December 2, 1976 meeting failed.. At
that Commission meeting the General Counsel sought and
received from the Commission subpoenas for Laird, Hawley,
Wallace, Powell and Kuykendall, as well as for the passenger
1ists of several Northwest Airlines flights to Milwaukee on
October 21, 1976-l/ At approximately 10:00 a.m. in the
morning of December 3, 1976, telephone contact with Laird was

resumed. In the early stages of that conversation, it appeared

l/ Immediately prior to the December 2nd Commission meeting
the General Counsel, accompanied by Mr. Hershman
approached Chairman Thomson in the Commission's
5th floor reception area. Counsel told the Chairman
that the investigators had tracked the leak back to
Melvin Laird and that Counsel was about to request
a subpoena for certain airline passenger lists for
flights to Milwaukee which Laird may have taken on
Thursday, October 21, 1976. The Chairman expressed
no surprise or other emotion at the mention of
Laird's name. Counsel stated that as a matter of
courtesy he wished to inform the Chairman of this
imminent :request because of the chance that,

October 22nd - 25th having been a long holiday

weekend, the Chairman, a Wisconsinite, might also

have been on one of the flights. The Chairman

expressed no concern whatsoever at the time and

indicated that he normally flew to Wisconsin only
- on Tuesdays, to attend certain Board meetings.
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that Laird's position had not changed whatsoever since

the last contact. He was then informed that the Commission
had authorized subpoends fof him and other persons. He
expressed extraordinary concern over this development.

This conversation ended with the understanding that he would
be in touch with his counsel, and. at some point would
probably be back in touch with the.investigators. He called
back at approximately 11:15 a.m. that same morning and
expressed great interest in the possibility that some
arrangement could be worked out whereby anonymity could be
preserved. It was tentatively agreed that he would meet
with the investigators the following Monday morning,
December 6, 1976 at 11:00 a.m. at his office. Laird then
went to lunch with his counsel and this matter was discussed.
It is now clear that sometime during that same day Laird
called Vernon Thomson and, at the very least, indicated
disappointment that Mr. Thomsom had voted for a subpoena

1/

for information which Thomson already had.—
On Saturday morning December 4, 1976 at 9:30 a.m. the
General Counsel received a telephone call at his residence
from Marilyn Early, Vermnon Thomson's secretary. Ms. Early
indicated that the Chairman wished to speak with the Counsel

and requested that Counsel call. 1In the ensuing telephone

1/ Laird Tr. p. 38. 1In his December 7th interview with

the investigators Mr. Laird had expressed himself f§:‘°ka(

rather more forcefully on this point.

7
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call, the Chairman told the Counsel that he was disturbed
about fheir brief conversation prior to the Commission
meeting of Thursday, December 2, 1976, and by the Counsel's
presentation to the full Commission in Executive Session
later that day, in whiech Laird had been identified as part
of the chain of communication. The Chairman indicated that
he would like to meet with the Counsel sometime during the
weekend. It was agreed that Counsel would meet at the
Chairman's home later that afternoon.

That meeting commenced approximately 4:15 p.m. The
Chairman indicated that he had reviewed his deposition and
that in view of the Counsel's'prgsentation to the Commission
on December 2, 1976 and Laird's apparent involvement, there
was an additional matter of which the Counsel should be
informed. The Chairman then recounted his meeting with
Laird at the University Club on the evening of October 19,
1976. He stated that at that cocktail reception for
Robert Spitzer he had been aggressively approached by
Laird who had berated the Commission for not acting expedi-
tiously on complaints and for apparently pursuing a policy
of postponing compliance actions until after the election.
The Chairman said that he may have overreacted to Laird's
attack. He stated that hé'had defended the Commission's
;ction by vehemently replying that the charge of. inaction

was completely false and that the Commission was moving

forward on all matters and was acting very vigorously.ﬁg¥033\\
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The Chairman said he did not say anything about the Sasser
case or Brock, nor did he mention subpoenas. In response

to a question, the Chairman said that Laird may have said
something about the Commission improperly permitting bank
loans to candidates. The Chairman was emphatic that he had
not said anything specific about any investigation but had
merely spoken in generalities in defeﬁse of the Commission's
position.

Counsel asked the Chairman whether Laird had been in
touch -with him since the October 19, 1976 reception. The
Chairman stated that Laird had called him several weeks
ago to ask who Mr. Murphy was and why Murphy was seeking
an appointment with Laird. The Chairman stated that he
explained to Laird that the Commission had authorized an
investigation and that the Counsel was doing his duty in
carrying it out. Counsel asked whether during this
telephone conversation the Chairman and Laird had spoken
about their previous exchange ﬁt the University Club on
October 19, 1976. The Chairman said that that conversation
did not come up. The Chairman did not inform the Counsel
of Laird's telephone call of December 3, 1976.

Apart from Robert Spitzer, the Chairman identified
Hyde Murray as having been present at the University Club
that evéning%jbut was unabie to recall who else may have ;‘enao

been present.

ERTIAN

l/Hyde Murray was jnterviewed by the investigators omn
December 9, 1976 at his office at the House Committee
on Agriculture. Murray recalls having attended the
University Club function, and saw Laird and the
Chairman there, but did not overhear the contents of
their conversation.
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Counsel recommended to the Chairmanm that he search his
memory for the identity of additional persons who may have
heard his exchange with Laird on October 19, 1976. It was
also agreed that the Chairman should in some way supplement
the existing record in this investigation. The interview
terminated shortly before 5:15 p.m. Counsel immediately
dictated a memorandum of the interview from a public telephone
booth at the intersection of Kirby Road and Route 123 in
McLean.l/ Later that evening the Counsel telephoned Mr. Hershman
and described the interview in detail.

On Monday, December 6, 1976 the inVestigators met at
11:00 a.m. with ﬁr. Laird, and Mr. Timothy May, the Readers
Digest local counsel. At sevéral points during the course
of this discussion, Mr. May expressed displeasure over the
fact that Federal law might be applied to a situation in
which one had ascertained certain information during the
course of a cocktail party conversation, or that Federal
investigations should ensue in the wake of comments having
been made in the heat of provocation. He strongly indicated
that the Readers Digest would resist the subpoena if it
issued. This interview terminated with the agreement that
Mr. Laird would talk to his source and seek permission to
give the investigators the requested information.

At approximately 1:36 the investigators met with the

Chairman who indicated that he had spoken with Laird around

Ve s b LA+ Q2
noon. After a limited discussion, the Counsel asked if /. o
» T ‘%\
L ‘-a 2 i::)
1/ B v/
= A copy of that memorandum is attached hereto. ‘ -
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the Chairman would telephone Mr. Laird and grant permission
to him to talk to the investigators. The Chairman agreed
that he would, and thereafter at approximately 2:00 p.m.

he notified Counsel that permission had been granted.

Counsel was unable to arrange for a further meeting with

Mr. Laird that day, but an appointment was made for 10:00 a.m.
the following morning, December 7, 1976.

At that December 7th meeting, accompanied by Mr. May,
Laird indicated that he had approached Mr. Thomson aggressively
at the October 19 University Club function and had needled him
about the Commissioners' failure to act on compliance matters.
He said that at that time hé had specifically mentioned loan
problems in Tennessee, Minnesota and Maryland. He recalled
that the Chairman had said that the Commission was acting to
investigate records in these campaigns. He could not recall
that either he or the Chairman had used the word subpoena
nor did .he have any recollection of receiving information
about a specific Commission vote. He indicated that he did
receive a strong impression that the Commission was acting
vigorously and currently in these cases. He did not recall
whether the name Sasser came up, but was certain that the
name Brock had not been mentioned.

He recalled thereafter calling the Chairman, sometime
between November 19, and November 23, to inquire about
Mr. Murphy and why the latter was seeking an appointment
with him. He stated he wanted to know what was going o

He stated that during that phone call the October 19th
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University Club meeting was probably mentioned and that

he had told the Chairman that the Chairman Qas the only one
with whom he had discussed the Tennessee matter. He stated
further that upon receiving notice on December 3, 1976 from
Mr. Murphy that the Commission had issued a subpoena,

he had called the Chairman to ask why the Chairman voted for
a subpoena when the Chairman was fully informed of the
relevant facts.l/

On December 15, 1976, Mr. Laird was deposed. Under
oath, he showed great‘reluctance to be as specific as he
had been in informal meetings. The transcript of that
deposition is attached hereto and should, as earlier
suggested, be read in its entirety. Pages 5-16 and 25-45
aré particularly relevant.

During the course of the deposition (pp. 48-49) the
investigators first learned that Mr. Thomson was apparently
represented by an attorney named Jerris Leonard, who earlier
that week had talked to Carl Wallace and to two assistants
"in Laird's office. Through each of these individuals
Mr. Leonard sought to obtain an appointment to see Mr. Laird
prior to Laird's deposition (Tr. p.48), but Laird had
referred him to Mr. May, the Digest counsel, and never did
talk to him, Leonafd had asked Wallace what Wallace had

told the investigators; Wallace told him.

1/

= Again, this December 3rd telephone call was not
mentioned by the Chairman when he met the General
Counsel at his McLean home the next day, Saturday
December 4th.
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After returning to the Commission from this deposition,
the General Counsel informed the Chairﬁan of the Leonard
reference during the deposition, and the Chairman confirmed
that Leonard was representing him. Counsel indicated
that perhaps Mr. Leonard should be present during the
Chairman's upcoming re-deposition. The Chairman indicated
that Counsel should talk to Leonard about that and provided
Counsel with Leonard's telephone numbers. The General
Counsel talked with Leonard late that afternoon and an
appointment at Leonard's office was arranged for 2:00.p.m.
Thursday, December 16th.

At that meeting, the investigators spoke candidly and
at lengfh with Mr. Leonard abdut the state of the record
in this case. There was prolonged discussion of what further
developments in the case might conceivably be, from referral
for criminal prosecution at one end of the spectrum, to
informal internal reprimand on the other. By the close of
the conversation, the investigators had identified, and Mr.
Leonard had duly noted, six. significant discrepancies or
omissions on the record which bore on the Chairman's credibility.
These were:

1. The Chairman's failure to disclose to the Commission
or the staff, prior to Decgmber 2, the telephone call from

Mr. Laird that came in sometime between Novembér 19 and 23.

3. Flg
Fon @
2. The failure of the Chairman to disclose the fg’ Eﬁ
A D
October 19, 1976 meeting with Mr. Laird and the initial Lafrd g;/

telephone conversation, once the General Counsel had made a
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presentation identifying Mr. Laird at the December 2, 1976
Commission mgeting, a meeting at which Commissioner Harris
had promptly stated that he had met with Mr. Laird sometime
around October 19 at the Hay Adams Hotel.

3. The failure of the Chairman to dislcose the
October 19, 1976 meeting with Laird and the initial Laird
telephoné conversation until thirty-six hours after the
December 2, 1976 Commission meeting, when disclosure was
finally made to the General Counsel at the Chairman's
home in MclLean, Virginia.

4. The Chairman's statement during the December 4,
1976 meeting at his home with the General Counsel that in the
course of Laird's initial telephone'conversation, the
University Club meeting of October 19, 1976 "did not come
up"; Mr. Laird had informed the investigators on December 7,
1976 that that October 19, 1976 meeting probably was
discussed in the first telephone conversation, and the
Chairman now testifies that it was mentioned.

5. The failure of the Chairman to disclose in his
Saturday, December 4, 1976 meeting with the General Counsel
that the October 19, 1976 meeting at the University Club
had included specific reference to the Tennessee, Minnesota
and Maryland loan complainp situations. The General
Counsel pointed out to Mr;,Leonard that in the December 4,
1976 meeting with the Chairﬁan, the Chairman had stated .&éi‘ <

" that he defended the Commission against Mr. Laird in very

& av

T

general terms and had in no way been specifie. Mr. Laird,

of course, had informed the investigators on December 7, 1976
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th;t Tennessee had in fact been mentioned on October 19, 1976.
6. The failure of the Chairman to disclose at his
Saturday, December 4, 1976 meeting with the General Counsel that
Mr. Laird had telephoned him the day before, December 3rd.
Mr. Leonard met with Mr. Thomson at 10:00 a.m. on
Friday, December 17, 1976. At noon on that day , Mr. Leonard
telephoned the General Counsel and the Chairman's re-deposition
was Arranged for 9:30 a.m. on Monday, Decem£ér 20th at
Mr. Leonard's office.
On December 20, under depbsition, Mr. Thomson stated:
1. That he had told the General Counsel at the
Saturday, December 4th meetingvthat Tennessee, Minnesota and
Maryland had been mentioned in the conversation with Laird
on October 19;
2. That he had told the General Counsel at the meeting
of Saturday, December 4th that Laird had called him not
once but twice;
3. That in the initial telephone conversation with
Laird sometime between November 19 and November 23, the
University Club conversation had been mentioned in some
fashion;
4. That he had been "struck like a thunderclap" by the
General Counsel's presentation of December 2, 1976 to the
full Commission regarding/Laird's involvement, and thét

after he had pondered over the General Counsel's presenta-

i
tion, it came to him that he should correct his deposition > ‘é>\

hicd
=

and thus call the General Counsel in a timely fashion on

e e,

S
Saturday morning, December 4th. i

5. That Commissioner Harris' prompt declaration

during the meeting of December 2nd that Harris had met with

Laird around October 19 should be viewed as involving

Ly
T



. - 33 -

"dqifferent circumstances."” The implication of this statement
by the Chairman was that Harris' December 2 declaration did
not bear on the Chairman's silence at that same meeting with
regard to his own contact with Laird.

Due to the pressures of time, this report at this
juncture does not purport to fully review either Mr. Laird's
or Chairman Thomson's deposition. It is recommended that
both be thoroughly read. Suffice it to say that Chairman
Thomson's testimony completely and unequivocally denies that
in his conversation with Mr. Laird on October 19, 1976 he
did more than defend the Commission in general terms, although
certain States were indeed mentioned; that he gave Mr. Laird
the specifics of any complaint; or that he gave Mr. Laird
any informatipn regarding any Commission vote on a compliancé
matter.

At the close of the deposition, Mr. Leonard expressed
the hope that he would be able to meet with the General
Counsel prior to the time when the latter made his report
to the Commission. The General Counsel was noncommittal..

ITI. Possible Further Investigatory Steps

Two additional classes of persons who arguably maybe
able to supply an additional relevant information have not
been interviewed. First class is comprised of the
approximately 50-75 person; who attended the University Club
function on October 19, 1976. The investigators do not have

" the names of these individuals but could probably obtain them.
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The second class is comprised of the Brock campaign staff
people other than Perkins and Bell, who attended the staff
meeting at Thomas Bell's home in Nashville on October 24,
1976.

It is the Counsel's current recommendation that further
interviews of persons present at the University Club not be
held; if-would appear that no one overheard the conversation
between Mr. Laird and Chairman Thomson. Nor does there seem
to be great merit to preceeding with interviews oprersons
preseﬁt at Bell's home on October 24, 1976; the relevant
conversation with Tom Ingram took place in a room apart from
the room in which the main staff gathering occurred. And
there is no indication on the present record that the
Commission's action was a subject of discussion except among
Bell, Perkins and Ingram. Nonetheless, the Commission may

wish to examine the option of having these people examined.




-

- 35 -

IV. Legal Analysis

The first issue is to what extent 2 U.S.C. §437g is
applicable to the conduct of various individuals involved
in the above-described chain of communication. In relevant
portion, that section states:

2 U.S.C. §437g(a)(1)....

(2) the Commission upon receiving any
complaint under paragraph (1), and if it has
reason to believe any person has committed a
violation of this Act or of Chapter 95 or
Chapter 96 of the Internal Revenue Code of -
1954, or, if the Commission on the basis of
information ascertained in the normal course
of carrying out its supervisory respomnsibilities,
has reason to believe that such a violation has
occurred, shall notify the person involved of
such alleged violation and shall make an investi-
gation of such alleged violation in accordance
with the provisions of this section.

(3) (A) Any investigation under paragraph
(2) shall be conducted expeditiously and shall
include an investigation, conducted in
accordance with the provisions of this section
of reports and statements filed by any
complainant under this title, if such complainant
is a candidate.

(B) Any notification or investigation made
under paragraph (2) shall not be made public by
the Commission or by any person without the
written consent of the person receiving such
notification or the person with respect to whom
such investigation is made.

(¢) any member of the Commission, any employee
of the Commission or any other person who violates
the provisions of subsection (a)(3)(B) shall be
fined not more than $3,000. Any such member,
employee, or other person who knowingly and
willfully violates the provisions of subsection
(a) (3) (B) shall be fined not more $5,000. (Emphasis
supplied.)




The above quoteéd language §437g(a)(3)(B), to the effect
that "any notification or investigation made under paragraph
2 shall not be made public" has not been formally construed
by the Commission, nor, of course, by any court. The
legislative history of the 1976 amendments to the Federal
Election Campaign Act is not helpful as to the meaning of
the phrase "made public"; the only indication there is that
Congress meant "disclosure.”" §S. Rep. No.1237; 93rd Congress
2nd Sess. 94 (1974). There has been no judicial review of
the constitutional permissibility of imposing a confidentiality
requirement upon persons other than Commission employees. That
that confidentiality tequiremént may appropriately be imposed
upon Commission employees would appear at least inferentially

to be the lesson of cases such as Swaaley v. B. S. 376 F.2d

857 180 Ct. Cl. (1967) and Iantiarelli v. Morton, 327 F. Supp.

873 (E.D. Penn. 1971), remanded on other grouds, 463 F.2d 179.

A. Commission Personnel

It is the General Counsel's recommendation that the
Commission interpret the statutory language regarding
making investigations public in the following manner: When-
ever a Commission employee communicates information, other
than in the ordinafy course of an investigation, to any
person not officially empioyed with the Commission, a

violation of the confidentiality requirements of 2 U.s.C.

§437g may be found if the communication directly results
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th;; the Commission is conducting an investigation with
respect to a specific individual, committee, or other
organization or group.l/
So interpreted, the conéept of making a matter public
would not encompass communications between Commission
employees regarding specific Commission compliance activity.
Applying this interpretation to the actions of Commission
prsonnel involved in this case leads to the following

conclusions:

1. Victoria Ann Tigwell

The evidence is clear that Miss Tigwell on Sunday,
October 24, 1976, "made public" the Commission's investigation
of the Senatorial campaign of James Sasser of Tennessee by
specifically communicating to an individual in the private
sector, namely Robert Perkins, a part-time aide in the campaign
of incumbent Senator William B;ock, the fact that the
Commission had supboenaed Sasser Committee records.
RECOMMENDATION: The Staff Director placed Miss Tigwell on
administrapivelleave with pay on November 29, 1976. I
recommend that the Staff Director now initiate appropriate
procedures to terminate Miss Tigwell's employment with the
Commission, Such procedures may appropriately include a
provision for argument:by her Counsel before the Commission
that a personnel sanction'éhort of dismissal be imposed.

In the meantime, I recommend that the Commission find reason
to believe that Miss Tigwell violated the confidentiality

requirement of 2 U.S.C.§437g(a)(3)(B). Conciliation

1/

=" This statement of the test is not exhaustive. There may be
cases where the Commission is about to investigate, or has
concluded an investigation, where the matter is not yet

properly public. Such instances woulqg be subject to
wording of the cited proposition. e ] variant
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agreement negotiations with Miss Tigwell's attorney are
ongoing and may well result in a settlement, as well as a
waiver by her &f further formal Commission findings to
which she would otherwise be entitled.

2. Daniel Reese and William Loughrey

The foregoing recommended interpretation of the "made
public" language of 2 - U.S.C. §437g does not cover the
communications of Reese to Tigwell on the evening of Saturday,
October 23, 1976 nor of Loughrey to Tigwell on Sunday,

October 24, 1976. Both communications were Commission
employee to Commission émployee. Accordingly, there is no
reason to believe that either Reese or Loughrey violated
§437g(a)(3)(B). I am of the view, however, that Mr. Reese's
October 23rd confirmation to Miss Tigwell that Sasser
subpoenas had issued, at a time when Reese knew that Brock
supporters, i.e. thé Perkins in Tennessee, had asked ébout
this subject, amounted to an extraordinarily serious error
of judgement. Severe disciplinary action is indicated, in
my judgement. I say this nothwithstanding my appreciation
of the fact that Mr. Reese, during his deposition, was
forthcoming with regard to his conﬁirmatory statement to
Miss Tigwell that Saturday evening.

With respect to Mr. Lqughrey, both his remarks to
Miss Tigwell during the ;fternoon of Sunday, October 24th
and the context in which they were uttered, are somewhat
unclear on this record. He would appear to have been carelgsé$ldy,

fo <,

offhand in indicating to Miss Tigwell that Perkins might ég B

TS
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checking out the subpoenas, but I have no rgcommendation
as to what disciplinary action may be in order.

3. Vernon W. Thomson

The question of whether there is reason to believe
Mr. Thomson "made public" a Commission investigation turns
in part upon whether his recollection or that of Mr. Laird
is better with regard to their conversation at the University
Club on October 19,°1976. Mr. Thomson states emphatically
that he said nothing specific to Laird, that "subpoenas,"
"Brock" and "Sasser" were not mentioned, and that he does
not recall saying the Commission was "investigating the
records" or "moving to obtain records" in compliance actions
involving Tennessee and other named jurisdictions. Mr. Laird's
best recollection under oath, on the other hand, is that
Mr. Thomson had used the terminology "investigation of records,"
and had indicated "that these records or these complaints
would be investigatéd, and that the Commission was going to

pursue this matter and try to get answers."l/

1/

=" Laird's testimony differs from Mr. Thomson's testimony
in three additional salient respects:

1) Laird states that he and Thomson reviewed the
contents of their October 19th conversation,
probably on Friday, December 3rd; Thomson
states that no such review occurred;

(Laird Tr. p 44, Thomson tr. p. 18)

2) Thomson does not agree that Laird expressed
disappointment to him on December 3rd that
the Commission had issued subpoenas (Laird
Tr. p. 38, Thomson Tr. p. 16)

3) Thomson does not agree that on December 3rd
Laird "certainly did" tell him to tell the
Commission staff of the October 19th '
conversation (Laird Tr. p. 4, Thomson Tr. p. 17)
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At several points during the deposition, Laird made
statements such as "I did get the impression that it was

a very active matter, and that the Commission was pursuing
these complaints vigorouély; I got the impression that it
was an immediate, ongoing matter, and that the Commission
was pursuing the matter vigorously." This testimony
conforms to eérliér statements made by Laird to the
investigators.

It is8 to be remembered that as the information makes
its way toward Tennessee on October 22nd, its recipients
grow increasingly specific as to its contents. Laird
testified he told Hawley of a rumor that tﬁe Commission
was investigating the records of Brogk's opponent. Hawley
testifies to the same effect. But Wallace was clear that
Hawley had told him the records had been subpoenaed. And
Kuykendall swears Wallace told him the>rumor' was that
the Commission had voted unanimously to issue subpoenas that
week. Bell testifies that Kuykendall told him of a unanimous
subpoena vote and that Kuykendall had said "Carl" [Wallace]
had said so to Kuykéndall. Powell testifies to learning of
a "sure" vote for "subpoenas." It should further be noted
thaf eaqh of these persons swore that they had only spoken
about this matter with the individuals they identified on
the record. ’

This increasing specificity lends .credenceto the idea
that Mr. Laird's initial transmission to Hawley was even more

o ‘,0“0 “
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particularized than either one remembers. Unless something
had been said by Mr. Thomson regarding Commission pursuit of
"records" in the several campaigns, it would appear to have
required an extraordinarily intuitive leap by Mr. Laird to
put in motion information which Mr. Wallace clearly recalls
as involving at least '"subpoenas" for Brock's opponent. It
may reasonably be inferred from the record as a whole,
notwithstanding Mr. Thomson's belief, that he in faect told
Mr. Laird at least that the Commission was acting in some
fashion to obtain records in connection with Tennessee. The
inference is reasonable notwithstanding the fact’that
Mr. Laird did not transmit information to Hawley until two
and one-half days after the October 19th conversation, a gap
that has not thus far been satisfactorily explained.

In the General Counsel's view, such an inference may
properly be drawn at this time and should be. That
something compromising may have been uttered by Mr. Thomson
on October 19th is implicitly buttressed by his remarkable
failure until December 4th to report to Commission staff
that he had spoken by telephone with Mr. Laird about this
investigation and the University Club conversation perhaps
as early as November 19th and certainly not later than
November 23rd.

The question then beéomes whether a preliminary finding
that Mr. Thomson was sufficiently specific in his October 19th

discussion with Mr. Laird provides a basis for finding reason
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to believe that he violated the Act. It is the General
Counsel's view thét the test set forth ab;ve is applicable

to communications possessing the degreé of specificity reflected
by Laird's testimony and reasonable inference; in short, this
record supports a preliminary finding that Mr. Thomson's
communicatioﬁ on October 19th directly resulted in knowledge
on tﬁe part of Mr. Laird that the Commission was conducting

an investigation with respect to the Sasser campaign.
Accordingly, it is recommended that the Commission find reason
to believe that Vernon W. Thomson violated §437g(a) (3)(B) of
the Act.

B. Application of §437g to Persons Not Officially
Employed with the Commission

§437g(a) (3)(B) expressly states that non-Commission
individuals have the same confidentiality obligation that
Commission employees bear.with respect to investigations.

On the present state of this record, and given the exigencies

attending the submission of this report, I am not at this

time prepared to make a recommendation to the Commission as

to whether it should seek to apply §437g to persons identified
as having participated in the described chain of communication
who are not officially employed with the Commission.

c. Réferral to the Justice Department for Possible
Perjury and Obstruction of Justice Investigation.

There is some evidence on this record that perjury may
have been committed and obstruction of justice attempted in

the course of this investigation. However, for the same
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reason that I noted in subsection B above, I am not at the tF@e
[+

w
prepared to recommend to the Commission that it refer any \i

aspect of this case to the Department of Justice for
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aspect of this case to the Department of Justice for
investigation of these potential charges.

V. Conclusion

Find reason to believe with respect to Victoria Amn
Tigwell and Vernon W. Thomson; prepare appropriate transmittal
letters; defer determinations regarding persons outside the
Commission.who participated in the described chain of communi-
cation;defer consideration of whether to refer any aspect of

the case to the Attormney General.

hn G.
General Counsel

December 21, 1976

Addendum

As this feport makes clear, Mr. Thomson's testimony of
December 20, 1976 is, on a number of points, in direct and
unequivocal conflict with the General Counsel's clear recol-
lection of, and a contemporaneous memorandumrmade with regard
to, their meeting at Mr. Thomson's home on Saturday, December 4,
1976. It also conflicts with an-account of that meeting related
orally by the General Counsel to Mr. Hershman later that same
day. The General Counsel is accordingly of the view that the
Commission may appropriatély request that I relinquish control

of this investigation, since I may be a witness in it.

Jdhn G. Murphgi’Jr ,

o



December 4, 1976

MEMORANDUM TO: The File

FROM: John G. Murphy, Jr.“'

. Saturday, December 4, 1976, 5:15 p.m., Intersection
of Route 123 and Kirby Road, MclLean, Virginia.

I have just spent approximately one hour with Vernon
Thomson at his home at 6213 Kellogg Drive, McLean, Virginia.
Marilyn Early telephoned me at 9:30 this morning and
indicated the Chairman wanted me to call him. I telephoned
him and he said that he would like to meet with me sometime
this weekend because he was disturbed about our brief
conversation prior to the Commission meeting, Thursday,
December 2. At that time, accompanied by Mike Hershman,

I had said to the Chairman that I was going to request
the Commission to subpoena the passenger list of several
Northwest Airlines flights from Washington to Milwaukee
on October.2l, 1976. I said that as a matter of courtesy
I wanted to inform him of this imminent request because
it seemed to me that there was a chance with the holiday
weekend coming up he might have been on one of the
flights. He expressed no concern whatsoever at that
time and indicated that he normally flew to Wisconsin

on Tuesday to attend Board meetings. I told him that I
was subpoening the plane records because we had tracked
the leak back to Melvin Laird who was on one of the
airplanes for which I sought records. He expressed no
surprise or any other emotion when I mentioned Laird's
name.

During this morning's telephone conversation, I agreed
to meet with him this afternoon and I went to his home at
approximately 4:15 p.m. After some preliminaries with regard
to last evening's staff party, he indicated that he had
reviewed his deposition and thought there might be an
omission of importance.

He said that on Tuesday, October 19, 1976, he had gone
to a reception of Wisconsin people for an old friend of
his, Bob Spitzer, at the University Club and during the
course of his brief stay had run into Mel Laird. He said
Laird came up to him with other people standing around and
berated the Commission for not acting expeditiously on
complaints. He said that he had felt somewhat provoked
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and had vehemently replied that)that was totally false,

that the Commission was moving/forward on all matters and

was acting very aggressively.f Thomson says he did not

say anything about the Sasser case or Brock and that he

did not mention the word subpoenas. In response to a ’
question, he said that Laird may have said something about

the Commission letting all those banks make those loans. -
Thomson's memory is not strong on this.£;H€‘§Efafthat -4

Laird's aggressive behavior was characteristic and he X0 -0
recounted another earlier unrelated episode in which Laird e
ad behaved the same way. 35«{’
I asked him if he could remember who was at the party Q
who could have heard this conversation. He was unable to \

give me a name. He had earlier mentioned a man named
Hyde Murray as being present but he did not think Murray
heard his exchange with Laird.

Thomson's manner throughout this interview somewhat
puzzled me. I asked him whether Laird had been in touch
with him since that reception. He said Laird had called
him a couple of weeks ago to ask who Murphy was and why I
had been calling Laird seeking an appointment. Thomson
represents that he said to Laird that the Commission was
investigating a matter, that I was authorized to act for
the Commission, and that he, Thomson, did not know exactly
what I was doing. I asked whether they had talked about
their previous conversation at the University Club. Thomson
said it did not come up. He could not relate any other
details of this telephone conversation. It seems to me
odd that Laird made this telephone call as described, since
the call was apparently made after I had tried to reach
him and therefore well after he had already conferred
with Wallace and probably Kuykendall about the fact that
I was on the track.

We left it that he would probably submit a statement
with respect to the University Club meeting, that he woul
pinpoint the exact date of the meeting and that he would
search his memory for the name of any person at the
University Club who may have heard his conversation with
Laird. He also agreed to sign another subpoena for the
Northwest Airlines flight we missed with a previous
subpoena.
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